No. 70469-9-I

DIVISION 1, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

APL LIMITED, AMERICAN PRESIDENT LINES, LTD. and EAGLE MARINE SERVICES, LTD.,

Appellants/Petitioners

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	A.	Statement of Facts.	2		
	B.	Procedural History.	5		
V.	ARG	ARGUMENT			
	A.	The Decision's Failure To Consider Annexation Is Contrary To Washington Law, Reduces The Test For Fixtures To One Element And Effectively Negates Any Presumption Of Intent.	7		
	B.	Review Is Required To Resolve A Conflict In The Decisions Of The Court Of Appeals On Whether An Item Is Constructively Annexed By Virtue Of Its Adaptation To The Land	10		
	C.	Review Is Required To Determine Whether The Presumption Of Intent Applied In Fixture Cases Works To Shift The Burden Of Proof, Or Merely The Burden Of Production.	14		
	D.	The Decision Erroneously Upholds The Trial Court's Findings On Intent In The Absence Of Any Objective Evidence That The Port Intended Only A Temporary Annexation.	17		
VI	CON	CLUSION	20		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s) CASES
Agrilink Foods, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 153 Wn.2d 392, 103 P.3d 1226 (2005)16
Amer. Radiator v. Pendleton, 62 Wash. 56, 112 Pac. 1117 (1911)18
APL Ltd. v. Dep't of Revenue, 2010 WL 264992 (Jan. 25, 2010)9
Ballard v. Alaska Theater Co., 93 Wash. 655, 161 P. 478 (1916)8
Chase v. Tacoma Box Co., 11 Wash. 377, 39 Pac. 639 (1895)11, 13
Courtright Cattle Co. v. Dolsen Co., 94 Wn.2d 645, 619 P.2d 344 (1980)
Cutler v. Keller, 88 Wash. 334, 153 Pac. 15 (1915)15
Dep't of Revenue v. Boeing, 85 Wn.2d 663, 538 P.2d 505 (1975)passim
Glen Park Assocs., LLC v. Dep't of Revenue, 119 Wn. App. 481, 82 P.3d 664 (2003) passim
Hall v. Dare, 142 Wash. 222, 252 P. 926 (1927)8
King v. Rice, 146 Wn. App. 662, 191 P.3d 946 (2008)7
Nearhoff v. Rucker, 156 Wash. 621, 287 P. 658 (1930)
Parrish v. Southwest Wash. Prod. Credit Ass'n, 41 Wn.2d 586, 250 P.2d 973 (1952)20
Seatrain Terminals, Inc. v. County of Alameda, 147 Cal. Rptr. 578 (1978)

74 Wn. App. 708, 875 P.2d 16 (1994)						
Strain v. Green, 25 Wn.2d 692, 172 P.2d 216 (1946)						
Strong v. Sunset Copper Co., 9 Wn.2d 214, 114 P.2d 526 (1941)11, 18						
Union Elev. & Warehouse Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Transp., 144 Wn. App. 593, 183 P.3d 1097 (2008)						
Western Ag. Land Partners v. Dep't of Revenue, 43 Wn. App. 167, 716 P.2d 310 (1986)passim						
STATUTES, REGULATIONS AND COURT RULES						
RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2)						
RAP 13.4(b)(4)						
RCW 82.04.050(4)(a)						
RCW 82.08.020(1)						
RCW 82.32.180						
WAC 458-12-010(3)(a)						
WAC 458-12-010(3)(a)(ii)13						
OTHER AUTHORITIES						
5 Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Prac. § 301.8 (5th ed. 2012)						
2 Wash. State Bar Ass'n, Wash. Real Property Deskbook: Real Estate Essentials § 23.2(a)(ii) (4th ed. 2009)						
35A Am. Jur. 2d Fixtures § 7						
35A Am. Jur. 2d Fixtures § 114						
35A Am. Jur. 2d Fixtures, § 115						

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellants APL Limited, American President Lines, Ltd. and Eagle Marine Services, Ltd. (collectively, "APL") respectfully request this Court to accept review and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

APL petitions for review of an unpublished decision, filed March 31, 2014, by Division I of the Court of Appeals ("the Decision"). The Decision affirmed the superior court's judgment that 800-ton container cranes the Port of Seattle (the "Port") built on Terminal 5 in the early 1980's are not fixtures and, thus, APL was not entitled to a refund from the Department of Revenue ("DOR") of sales tax paid on crane use charges. A copy of the Decision is attached to the Appendix.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

At common law, which applies here, personal property becomes real property if (1) it is annexed to the land, (2) it is adapted to the purpose or use of the land, and (3) the annexor intends to make a permanent addition to the land. *Dep't of Revenue v. Boeing*, 85 Wn.2d 663, 668, 538 P.2d 505 (1975). A finding of "annexation" under the first element creates a presumption of "intent" under the third element. *Id.* at 669; *Nearhoff v. Rucker*, 156 Wash. 621, 628, 287 P. 658 (1930). In light of these standards, the Decision presents the following issues for review:

- 1. In determining whether an item is a fixture, are courts required to consider the item's annexation to the land because it is not only highly relevant to the element of intent, but also determinative of whether intent must be presumed in certain cases?
- 2. In considering annexation, are courts required to consider whether the item is constructively annexed by virtue of its adaptation to the use and purpose of the land, see Western Ag. Land Partners v. Dep't of Revenue, 43 Wn. App. 167, 716 P.2d 310 (1986), or are they forbidden from doing so, see Glen Park Assocs., LLC v. Dep't of Revenue, 119 Wn. App. 481, 82 P.3d 664 (2003)?
- 3. When a presumption of intent arises, does the presumption shift the burden of proof or merely create a burden of production?
- 4. Where the presumption of intent applies, can it be rebutted in the absence of any objective evidence that the annexing party intended to remove the item before the end of its useful life?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts.

In September 1985, the Port and APL entered into a 30-year lease agreement (the "Lease"). Tr. Ex. 101; CP 199-200 (FF ¶ 5). The Lease required the Port to redevelop Terminal 5 into a state of the art container cargo terminal, the centerpiece of which was five new container cranes

(the "T-5 Cranes"). Tr. Ex. 101 (§ 1(d)); RP (9/27/11) at 121; CP 200 (FF ¶ 10). According to the Port's executive director at the time, the Port's commitment to install the T-5 Cranes on Terminal 5 was "extraordinarily instrumental in securing the lease with" APL. RP (9/27/11) at 84-87.

These were no ordinary cranes. The T-5 Cranes were to be bigger and better than any of the Port's existing cranes. At the time of the Lease, the Port had no cranes capable of loading and unloading giant "Post-Panamax" container ships, *i.e.*, ships too large to pass through the Panama Canal. Although Post-Panamax ships were only then being designed—and none would actually dock at the Port for another 10 years—the Port understood that construction of the T-5 Cranes was critical to the Port's long-term strategic plans. RP (9/27/11) at 87-88, 91, 164, 166-67; RP (9/28/11) at 305; CP 201 (FF ¶ 12).

It took approximately a year to design and fabricate the crane components and another year to assemble the T-5 Cranes on-site. RP (9/26/11) at 68-69; RP (9/27/11) at 88. The T-5 Cranes were specially manufactured for use at Terminal 5, with design criteria tailored to size, weight and power constraints, as well as seismic and wind conditions. RP (9/26/11) at 55, 73-76. The T-5 Cranes are among "only a few cranes in the world that are built with cylindrical" legs, a design feature that "helped

to make these cranes suitable" for Terminal 5 "which had relatively low allowable wheel loads for cranes of this size." RP (9/26/11) at 74.

The T-5 Cranes are massive steel structures, which allow them to service larger ships and lift heavier cargo containers. Tr. Ex. 7. Each crane weighs approximately 800 tons and nearly 200 feet tall when the boom is lowered. CP 201 (FF ¶ 14). The boom itself is more than 145 feet long, which is long enough to load and unload a container ship that is 17 containers wide. RP (9/26/11) at 39-43; RP (9/27/11) at 167; RP (9/28/11) at 305.

The T-5 Cranes operate on rails embedded in the wharf, running parallel with the ship berths. RP (9/26/11) at 48-49, 71; RP (9/27/11) at 147; CP 200-201 (FF ¶ 11). This is essential to the cranes' ability to service the ships that dock at Terminal 5; the cranes could not reach all of the containers from a fixed position. RP (9/27/11) at 155. The crane rails are confined to Terminal 5 and, thus, the T-5 Cranes cannot be moved by rail to any other terminal. RP (9/26/11) at 71. Because of their massive weight, gravity is sufficient to affix the cranes to the rails. *Id.* at 69; CP 200-201 (FF ¶¶ 11, 15).

The Lease required the Port to make millions of dollars of major improvements to Terminal 5 to accommodate the T-5 Cranes. RP (9/26/11) at 56; RP (9/27/11) at 87, 164; Tr. Ex. 3. These improvements

included construction of concrete and steel structural reinforcement to the wharf's "apron," which serves as the foundation for the cranes, new concrete crane rail beams, improvements the waterside crane rail, a new landside crane rail embedded in the concrete apron and a dedicated high voltage electrical substation to power the T-5 Cranes. RP (9/26/11) at 60-67, 69-70; RP (9/27/11) at 87-88, 164-165.

The Port viewed the T-5 Cranes as "an integral part" of Terminal 5. RP (9/27/11) at 89, 93. And a permanent one too. The Port had no plans to remove the cranes from the facility prior to the end of their useful life. RP (9/27/11) at 90, 93. There was no effort to design the cranes so that they could be disassembled or removed from Terminal 5. *Id.* Indeed, the Port's executive director insisted on a 30-year lease, the longest in the Port's history, because that was the expected useful life of the T-5 Cranes. RP (9/27/11) at 89, 268. Consistent with the Port's long-term strategy, the T-5 Cranes have remained in continuous service at Terminal 5 since their construction. RP (9/28/11) at 298; CP 200 (FF ¶ 8).

B. Procedural History.

Under the Lease, APL is required to pay the Port periodic use charges for the T-5 Cranes as part of its rent. Tr. Ex. 101 (\S 3(a)). The Port collected retail sales tax on the crane use charges, which it remitted to the DOR. CP 199 (FF \P 3). APL petitioned the DOR for a refund on the

grounds that the cranes were fixtures and, thus, not subject to sales tax. See RCW 82.08.020(1); RCW 82.04.050(4)(a). When the DOR denied the petition, APL brought this refund action. CP 4-7.

The trial court entered findings and conclusions following a bench trial. CP 196-238. Although the DOR conceded that the T-5 Cranes were specifically adapted for use at Terminal 5 and, therefore, APL had satisfied the "adaptation" prong of the common law fixture test, the trial court concluded that APL failed to establish the "annexation" and "intent" prongs. CP 207-208 (CL ¶¶ 2, 6 & 7). In particular, because the trial court found no annexation, it refused to apply the presumption of intent in APL's favor. *Id.* As a result, it held that the T-5 Cranes were personal property, and therefore subject to sales tax. *Id.* (CL ¶ 8).

The Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding that the trial court's findings on "intent" were dispositive. Decision at 3, 5. Although the Court recognized that "annexation" creates a presumption of intent, it did not address the annexation element at all. *Id.* at 3, 17. Rather, it adopted the trial court's reasoning that where annexation is not "clear," the presumption "serves no useful purpose." *Id.* at 14-15. The Court further held that even if the presumption did apply, it would not shift the burden of proof on the intent element, but was simply part of the "totality of the circumstances" that could be rebutted with "some evidence." *Id.* at 15-16.

V. ARGUMENT

The Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2). The Decision also involves an issue of substantial public interest because it reveals a lack of clarity in the law of fixtures that only this Court can resolve. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should accept review and hold that (1) annexation remains a critical element of the fixtures test; (2) a presumption of intent applies where the item is constructively annexed by virtue of adaptation to the land; (3) when the presumption applies, it shifts the burden of proof to show a lack of intent; and (4) the presumption is not rebutted where, as here, there is no objective evidence the owner intended only a temporary annexation.

A. The Decision's Failure To Consider Annexation Is Contrary To Washington Law, Reduces The Test For Fixtures To One Element And Effectively Negates Any Presumption Of Intent.

While "intent" has assumed a primary role in determining whether an item is a fixture, Washington courts continue to uniformly apply the traditional three-element test—of which "annexation" is the first element. Annexation is not only a threshold requirement, it is also an integral component of intent. This is so because "all pertinent factors reasonably

¹ See Courtright Cattle Co. v. Dolsen Co., 94 Wn.2d 645, 656, 619 P.2d 344 (1980); Boeing, 85 Wn.2d at 667; King v. Rice, 146 Wn. App. 662, 668-69, 191 P.3d 946 (2008); Union Elev. & Warehouse Co., Inc. v. Dep't of Transp., 144 Wn. App. 593, 603, 183 P.3d 1097 (2008); Glen Park, 119 Wn. App. at 487; SSG Corp. v. Cunningham, 74 Wn. App. 708, 711, 875 P.2d 16 (1994); Western Ag, 43 Wn. App. at 171.

bearing on the intent of the annexor should be considered ... including, but not being limited to ... the manner of annexation, and the purpose for which the annexation is made." Boeing, 85 Wn.2d at 668 (emphasis added). This principle, too, is uniformly recognized.² Thus, in holding that similar cranes owned by the Port of Oakland were fixtures under the same common law of fixtures, the California Court of Appeals noted that "the element of intent" the most important with the other two elements, annexation and adaptation, serving as "ingredients relevant to the determination of intent." Seatrain Terminals, Inc. v. County of Alameda, 147 Cal. Rptr. 578, 581 (1978).

The manner and purpose of annexation is more than simply a factor relevant to intent, it alone can be dispositive of that element. It is equally settled in Washington law that where, as here, the annexor is the landowner, it is presumed that the owner annexed the item with an intent to permanently enrich the land—which, of course, is the same showing that is required to satisfy the element of intent.³ In short, as the Court of Appeals properly recognized the first time this case was on appeal, but

² See Strain v. Green, 25 Wn.2d 692, 699, 172 P.2d 216 (1946); Ballard v. Alaska Theater Co., 93 Wash. 655, 663, 161 P. 478 (1916); Union Elev., 144 Wn. App. at 603-04; Glen Park, 119 Wn. App. at 488; Western Ag, 43 Wn. App. at 173

³ See Boeing, 85 Wn.2d at 669; Strain, 25 Wn.2d at 700; Nearhoff v. Rucker, 156 Wash. 621, 628, 287 P. 658 (1930); Hall v. Dare, 142 Wash. 222, 229, 252 P. 926 (1927); Glen Park, 119 Wn. App. at 490; Western Ag, 43 Wn. App. at 173; see also 35A Am. Jur. 2d Fixtures, § 115 ("a presumption arises that when a person making an annexation of a chattel to realty is the owner of the realty, the chattel is a fixture").

apparently forgot the second time, "[b]ecause annexation is so intertwined with the intent to annex, one cannot be examined without the other." *APL Ltd. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 2010 WL 264992, *4 (Jan. 25, 2010).

But that is exactly what the Decision does. Presumably to avoid having to address a split in authority on the proper test for annexation (see below), the Court of Appeals affirmed without examining whether, how or why the T-5 Cranes were annexed to Terminal 5. See Decision at 3 & 17. In so doing, the court obviously did not consider "all pertinent factors" on the issue of intent. Boeing, 85 Wn.2d at 668. More importantly, because it did not determine whether the Port annexed the T-5 Cranes to Terminal 5, the court did not apply the presumption of intent in APL's favor—which, as explained below, would have shifted the burden of proof to the DOR and resulted in a conclusion that the cranes are, in fact, fixtures.

The Decision suggests it is permissible to simply skip analysis of annexation because, in any event, the presumption of intent would not apply where annexation is "not clear without resorting to examining what the owner intended." Decision at 14-15 & n. 44 (citing CP 217). This circular reasoning lacks any support in Washington law and is flat backwards. Evidence of annexation is relevant to issue of intent—not the other way around. Moreover, to ignore the presumption of intent because annexation is "not clear" simply begs the question of whether, how and

why the item was annexed, which is precisely what courts are required to determine.

This Court should accept review and confirm the continued vitality of the common law three-element test for fixtures, including the role annexation plays in that analysis. While intent is the most important element, as this Court has repeatedly emphasized, the manner and purpose of annexation is directly relevant to that inquiry; intent cannot be analyzed without also considering annexation. This Court should also reaffirm that annexation must be considered because it is determinative of whether intent to enrich the freehold must be presumed. Courts should not be permitted to negate operation of the presumption, as the Court of Appeals did here, by simply skipping over the separate inquiry of annexation.

B. Review Is Required To Resolve A Conflict In The Decisions Of The Court Of Appeals On Whether An Item Is Constructively Annexed By Virtue Of Its Adaptation To The Land.

In failing to decide the issue of annexation, the Decision avoids the primary issue on appeal. The trial court found that the T-5 Cranes were not annexed to Terminal 5 because it ignored the doctrine of "constructive annexation," and refused to consider the cranes' "adaptation" to the land in its annexation analysis. In so doing, the court refused to follow the correct rule set forth in *Western Ag* in favor of the conflicting and incorrect rule set forth in *Glen Park*. Had the Court of Appeals considered

annexation and followed *Western Ag*, as it should have, it would have concluded that APL proved annexation based on the undisputed evidence that the T-5 Cranes were specially adapted to Terminal 5.

Over a hundred years ago, this Court recognized the concept of "constructive annexation" and rejected the notion that annexation requires "an absolute fastening or continued physical union." *Chase v. Tacoma Box Co.*, 11 Wash. 377, 380-81, 39 Pac. 639 (1895). "The better opinion ... is in favor of viewing everything as a fixture which has been attached to the realty with a view to the purpose for which it is held or employed, however slight or temporary the connection between them." *Id.* at 380 (quotation marks and citation omitted). The issue, then, is whether the item is "attached to the real estate as firmly as it appears to have been reasonably possible to attach it," given its purpose. *Strong v. Sunset Copper Co.*, 9 Wn.2d 214, 230, 114 P.2d 526 (1941) (citations omitted).

It is for this reason courts must consider an item's "adaptation" to the realty—not just in connection with the second element of the fixtures test—but also to determine the first element, "annexation." This rule and relationship was spelled out expressly by Division 3 in *Western Ag*:

The first prong, annexation, is often considered in light of the actual relationship of the object to the realty—whether the article is 'in use as an essential part' of the overall use of the property. ...

Western Ag, 43 Wn. App. at 172 (citations omitted). Put simply, "[t]he

similarity between constructive annexation and the adaptation test ... makes these concepts almost indistinguishable in many cases." 2 Wash. State Bar Ass'n, *Wash. Real Property Deskbook: Real Estate Essentials* § 23.2(a)(ii) (4th ed. 2009). The DOR's own regulation expressly provides that an item is annexed to realty, even if not "securely attached," so long as it "is adapted to use in the place it is located." WAC 458-12-010(3)(a).

In *Glen Park*, Division 2 expressly rejected this rule. There, the court refused to consider whether the article was constructively annexed to the land even though it was "an essential part" of the property's use and purpose and, in so doing, expressly repudiated *Western Ag*:

We decline to follow *Western Ag*['s] suggestion that use may be considered in deciding annexation. To do so would blur the lines between the first and second elements of the test and could minimize or eliminate the first.

Id. at 489. The Glen Park court cited no authority for its holding, and conspicuously failed to cite or refer to WAC 458-12-010(3)(a). The trial court elected to follow Glen Park and, sure enough, its findings on annexation are devoid of any reference to the undisputed facts showing the T-5 Cranes' specific adaptation to and fabrication for use at Terminal 5. See CP 216 (Tr. (10/14/11) at 5-6); CP 200-01 (FF ¶¶ 13-23).

The trial court's reliance on *Glen Park* to ignore APL's evidence of constructive annexation—a ruling the Decision implicitly accepts—was

erroneous. Western Ag and the DOR regulation, not Glen Park, state the correct rule. The line between annexation and adaptation is "blurred," and purposely so, because the status of items as fixtures "depends less upon the manner of their annexation ... than upon their own nature and their adaptation to the purposes for which they are used." Chase, 11 Wash. at 380. In rejecting the relevance of adaptation, Glen Park undermines the doctrine of constructive annexation and revives the discredited notion that physical attachment matters most when it comes to annexation.

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