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

V. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW 

APL asserts that the unpublished decision issued by the Court of 

Appeals "conflicts with decisions of this Court and Court of Appeals," and 

that the decision "involves an issue of substantial public interest." See Pet. 

at 7; see also RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2), & (4). 

APL is incorrect. The decision does not conflict with any prior 

decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals, and this appeal raises no 

issue of substantial public importance. Instead, the Court of Appeals 

followed and applied this Court's analysis in Boeing in concluding that the 

totality of the evidence supported the trial court's finding that the Port 

properly treated the TS cranes as personal property, not fixtures. Nothing 

in the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision warrants further review. 
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A. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Not In Conflict With Any 
Decision Of This Court. 

APL claims that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) 

because-according to APL-the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with 

"decisions of this Court." Pet. at 7. To support its claim, APL suggests 

that the Court of Appeals did not consider "all pertinent factors reasonably 

bearing on the intent of the annexor" including the "manner of annexation, 

and the purpose for which the annexation is made." !d. at 7-8 (quoting 

Boeing, 85 Wn.2d 668). APL's criticism is unfounded. The Court of 

Appeals applied the same analysis that this Court applied in Boeing. The 

decision is entirely consistent with Boeing, not in conflict with that case. 

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, Boeing is "the leading 

case in this state addressing the question of fixtures for tax purposes and is 

substantially similar to this case." Slip. Op. at 6. Boeing involved 

"immense tools" known as "fixed assembly jigs" that were used in 

manufacturing and assembling the Boeing 747. Boeing, 85 Wn.2d at 664. 

The jigs were bolted to the floor and weighed between 70 and 120 tons. 

!d. The jigs could be removed from the building without injuring the 

building and, over time, they had been moved from plant to plant. Id at 

665. Boeing argued the jigs were fixtures and therefore eligible for a 

manufacturing tax credit. !d. at 664. The Department asserted that the 

jigs were equipment (i.e., personal property) and ineligible for the tax 

credit. !d. This Court agreed with the Department that the jigs were 

personal property. !d. at 670-71. 
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In reaching this conclusion, this Court considered various facts and 

"surrounding circumstances" relating to Boeing's intent, including "the 

nature of the article affixed, the relation and situation to the freehold of the 

annexor, the manner of annexation, and the purpose for which annexation 

is made." !d. at 668. Two factors supported Boeing's contention that the 

jigs were fixtures. First, since it was undisputed that the jigs were 

annexed to the Boeing realty, this CoUrt explained that "it arguably could 

be presumed that the intent of the annexation was to benefit the freehold 

and not to preserve the jigs as personalty." !d. at 669.5 Second, this Court 

noted that the jigs were "necessary to the production of the Boeing 747 

and the record does not disclose any plans by Boeing to end the 

production of such aircraft." !d. 

Other evidence, however, convinced this Court that Boeing did not 

intend for its fixed assembly jigs to become permanent attachments to the 

real property. That other evidence consisted of: (1) the feasibility of using 

the premises for a different purpose "in which case the present jigs would 

have to be discarded and new ones brought into the plant," (2) the manner 

in which the jigs were secured to the floor, (3) the feasibility of 

disassembling and moving the jigs "without undue difficulty or harm to 

the jigs," ( 4) whether Boeing considered the jigs to be personal property 

5 In Boeing, the Department had conceded that the jigs were annexed to real 
property owned by Boeing. See Boeing, ·gs Wn.2d at 668 n.3. In contrast, the 
Department has not conceded that the TS cranes were annexed to the Port's real property, 
and the trial court found that the TS cranes were not annexed. CP at 201 (FOF 13). 
Thus, the first of the two facts supporting Boeing's claim that its fixed assembly jigs were 
fixtures is not present here. 
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for tax purposes, and (5) "documentary" evidence that Boeing 

distinguished the jigs from real property fixtures. !d. at 669-70. While 

none of those factors was, by itself, determinative of Boeing's intent, the 

totality of the circumstances indicated that Boeing had not intended the 

jigs to be a permanent accession to the freehold. !d. at 670-71. 

Here, the Court of Appeals, like the trial court and this Court in 

Boeing, considered all the pertinent facts and circumstances supported by 

the record. The Court of Appeals discussed the uncontested evidence 

pertaining to "the movability of the cranes," the "Port's categorization of 

the cranes for tax purposes," and the documentary evidence indicating that 

the Port considered the T5 cranes to be personal property, not fixtures. 

Slip Op. at 8-13. Based on its review, the Court of Appeals summarized: 

[T]here is substantial evidence to support the trial court's 
challenged findings. Additionally, these findings, along 
with the unchallenged fmdings, show that most of the 
factors considered pertinent in Boeing are also present in 
this case. The cranes could be easily removed, the cranes 
could be readily moved and transformed back into 
personalty, the Port considered the cranes personalty for 
tax purposes, and the Port did not list the cranes as 
improvements in the lease. Looking at this evidence, and 
considering the totality of the circumstances, the findings 
support the trial court's conclusion that the Port did not 
intend for the cranes to be treated as fixtures. 

Slip Op. at 13-14. 

In Boeing, this Court mentioned that there were two facts in the 

record that supported Boeing's contention that the jigs were fixtures, but 

concluded that the "cumulative effect" of the other evidence was sufficient 

to uphold the trial court's finding that the jigs were personalty. Boeing, 85 
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Wn.2d at 669. The Court of Appeals applied a similar analysis, 

concluding that none of APL's countervailing evidence or arguments were 

persuasive. Slip Op. at 14-16. 

Specifically, the Court of Appeals rejected APL's argument that 

the Port's intent to permanently affix the T5 cranes should be presumed 

from the fact that the cranes were adapted for use at the TerminalS 

facility. According to APL, evidence pertaining to the cranes' adaption 

for use on the owner's land is sufficient to support both the "adaptation" 

element and the "intent" element of the common law fixtures test, and is 

sufficient to establish an evidentiary presumption of "intent." Relying in 

part on Boeing, the Court of Appeals explained that even if the 

presumption relied on by APL were to apply in this case, it was only one 

factor that could be considered in the overall analysis. Slip Op. at 15-16. 

This is entirely consistent with the analysis in Boeing where this Court 

concluded that evidence supporting Boeing's position that the jigs were 

fixtures, even if sufficient to establish a presumption of intent, was 

insufficient to overcome the other evidence in the record that Boeing 

intended its jigs to remain personal property. 

In determining whether chattel becomes a fixture, "the cardinal 

inquiry is into the intent of [the person] making the annexation." Ballard, 

93 Wash. at 662. And "when the intent is discovered it is generally 

controlling." Id Here, as in Boeing, there is ample evidence supporting 

the trial court's finding of intent. CP 203-07 (FOF 26-43). Moreover, as 

in Boeing, APL's failure to establish the "intent" element of the common 
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law test is sufficient to decide the case. See Boeing, 85 Wn.2d at 668 

("We agree with the Department of Revenue that the third prong, i.e., the 

intent of Boeing to make a permanent annexation to the freehold is lacking 

in the instant case."). The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in 

conflict with Boeing or any other decision of this Court and does not 

warrant further review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Not In Conflict With Any 
Prior Court Of Appeals Decision. 

APL next contends that discretionary review is required in order to 

resolve an alleged conflict between two Court of Appeals cases, neither of 

which the Court of Appeals relied on in deciding this case. See Pet. at 10-

14. According to APL, a 1986 case established the "correct" rule of law 

pertaining to the annexation element of the common law fixtures test, and 

the later decision applied a "conflicting and incorrect rule." Pet. at 10 

(citing Western Ag. Land Partners v. Dep 't of Revenue, 43 Wn. App. 167, 

716 P.3d 310 (1986) and Glen Park Associates, LLC v. Dep't of Revenue, 

119 Wn. App. 481, 82 P.3d 664, review denied, 152 Wn.2d 1016, 101 

P.3d 107 (2004)). 

As the Department has previously explained, there is no genuine 

conflict between Western Ag. and Glen Park. See Department's Answer 

to Statement of Grounds for Direct Review at 7-12 (Sup. Ct. No. 86977-4, 

filed March 9, 2012). Those two cases involved significantly different 

facts, and neither case established a "mandated" approach that must 

always be followed when determining if personal property has been 
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actually annexed to the land. To the contrary, both cases implicitly 

recognize what Division Ill recently explained in another fixtures case: 

"[D]etermining what constitutes a fixture as opposed to personal property 

is a difficult task that depends on the particular facts of each case." Union 

Elevator & Warehouse Co., Inc. v. Department ofTransportation, 144 

Wn. App. 593,603, 183 P.3d 1097 (2008). 

Western Ag. and Glen Park are consistent with the inherent nature 

of fixtures cases, which are always fact specific. See, e.g., Philadelphia 

Mortg. & Trust Co. v. Miller, 20 Wash. 607, 610, 56 P. 382 (1899) (the 

law of fixtures is fact-specific and a finding that chattel is personal 

property will normally not be disturbed on appeal "unless we were 

compelled to say that, as a matter of law, the property sued for was a part 

of the realty"). There is no one "correct" or mandated approach to 

analyzing fixtures cases, and APL's claim to the contrary is simply 

incorrect.6 

In any event, as discussed above, the Court of Appeals decision in 

this case relied on this Court's analysis in Boeing, and did not rely on 

either Western Ag. or Glen Park. Consequently, there is no conflict 

between the Court of Appeal's decision in this case and another decision 

of the Court of Appeals. Discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) is 

not warranted. 

6 Moreover, this Court implicitly rejected the argument that APL is making here 
when it denied review in Glen Park. 
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C. The Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Present Issues of 
Substantial Public Importance That Should Be Determined By 
This Court. 

·Given the substantial evidence supporting the trial court's fmding 

that the Port properly treated the T5 cranes as personal property, this case 

does not present an issue of substantial public importance requiring review 

by this Court. APL contends, however, that this Court should accept 

review in order to decide whether the presumption of intent-which may 

arise when the owner of personal property actually annexes that property 

to that owner's realty-shifts the burden of proof to the party opposing the 

presumption. Pet. at 14-16. In short, APL seeks review so that this Court 

can decide whether the presumption of intent shifts only the burden of 

going forward with the evidence (the "Thayer'' theory), or shifts the 

ultimate burden of proof (the "Morgan" theory). See generally Karl B. 

Tegland, Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice §§ 301.13 through 

301.15 (5th ed. 2013) (discussing the Thayer and Morgan theories of 

evidentiary presumptions) (copy attached as Appendix A). 

For a number of reasons, this case is not a good candidate for 

deciding whether the presumption of intent that sometimes applies in 

fixtures cases shifts the burden of producing evidence or shifts both the 

burden ofproduction and the burden of persuasion. First, the trial court 

found that the Port had not actually annexed the T5 cranes to Terminal 5. 

CP 201 (FOF 13); CP 202 (FOF 23). Thus, the presumption of intent did 

not apply in this case. 
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Second, as both the trial court and the Court of Appeals noted, 

applying the presumption of intent would serve no useful purpose where, 

as here, the evidence of annexation is not clear. CP 203 (FOF 25); Slip 

Op. at 14-15. Intent is the most important factor under the common law 

fixtures test, and it makes no logical sense to impose a presumption of 

intent in those cases where there is very little if any evidence that the 

property at issue was actually annexed to the real property. 

Third, even if the presumption were to apply in this case, it is only 

one factor supporting APL's claim for a tax refund and is easily rebutted 

by other substantial evidence in the record showing that the Port did not 

intend the T5 cranes to be permanently affixed to the Terminal 5 facilities. 

See CP 203-07 (FOF 26-43). Thus, regardless of who had the burden of 

proof at trial, the substantial evidence in the record clearly established the 

Port's intent. Even under the Morgan theory of evidentiary presumptions, 

the substantial evidence in the record relating to the Port's intent would be 

sufficient to rebut the presumption. 

Finally, it is well established that the Legislature may by statute 

change a rule of common law. See State ex ref. Madden v. Public Utility 

Dist. No. 1, 83 Wn.2d 219,221, 517 P.2d 585 (1973) ("A statute which is 

clearly designed to substitute for the prior common law must be given 

effect."). RCW 82.32.180, which permits a taxpayer to sue for a refund of 

overpaid excise taxes, clearly provides that the "burden shall rest upon the 

taxpayer to prove that the tax as paid ... is incorrect ... and to establish 

the correct amount of the tax." This provision would likely impose the 
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burden of proof on APL in this tax refund lawsuit even if a different 

common-law rule applied in fixtures cases generally. 

The common law fixtures test has been employed in Washington 

for more than 100 years without any need to decide whether the 

presumption of intent merely shifts the burden of going forward with 

evidence rebutting the presumption or shifts the burden of proof pertaining 

to intent. It is not a matter of substantial public importance for this Court 

to consider or decide the issue in this case. 

D. APL's Contention That There Is No Objective Evidence 
Supporting The Trial Court's Finding Of Intent Is Incorrect 
And Insufficient To Merit Discretionary Review By This 
Court. 

APL's final argument in support of its petition theorizes that ifthe 

presumption of intent had applied in this case, no objective evidence could 

support the trial court's finding that the Port intended the T5 cranes to be 

personal property, not fixtures. Pet. at 17-20. APL's argument, even if 

true, would not justify discretionary review. In short, APL simply 

disagrees with the decisions of the trial court and the Court of Appeals, 

which is not one of the listed criteria in RAP 13.4(b) governing the 

acceptance of discretionary review. 

More importantly, APL's contention that the facts in the record 

would be insufficient to overcome the presumption of intent is incorrect. 

APL first argues that the uncontested fact that the T5 cranes could be 

moved from Terminal 5 without undue difficulty or harm is irrelevant in 

overcoming the presumption of intent because, according to APL, the 
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"intent" element is concerned only with the "intent that [the property] be 

moved or removed before the end of its useful life." Pet. at 18; see also CP 

201-202 (uncontested FOF 18-22 explaining that the Port's inventory of 

container cranes were movable and could be relocated to another terminal 

or even another port). To support this argument, APL incorrectly asserts 

that in Boeing this Court concluded that Boeing "planned to remove the 

jigs" from the real property at some point before the end of their useful 

lives and it was this "plan" that would have been relevant had that 

presumption applied. Pet. at 18.7 But that is not what Boeing says. 

Instead, this Court explained that "the record does not disclose any plans 

by Boeing to end the production of' the 747 aircraft for which the fixed 
. ' 

assembly jigs were used. Boeing, 85 Wn.2d at 669 (emphasis added). 

Nonetheless, the fact that the jigs were designed so that they could be 

removed without undue effort or harm was relevant objective evidence of 

Boeing intent. Id Moreover, nowhere did this Court assert that the 

"intent" element is concerned with the owner's intent to keep the jigs in 

place for their "useful lives." Instead, the Court explained that the 

cumulative effect of all the evidence (including the movability evidence)

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